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    1 - The Beginning




    Kelly came into my life the same way as many other girls in Ramage: I bar fined her. Of course those of you who have never travelled to South East Asia will be appalled – prostitution you will say. Was I a sex tourist?




    No I was not. I was living in the Ramage Islands. I had lived in Thailand but finally got fed up with playing their visa games – not to mention that the price of wine in that Kingdom is about four times the UK price. I had thought about Cambodia and the Philippines but finally it was Ramage. I am reasonable well off; that means I have a decent pension and a comfortable sum in investments. I lived well in Ramage in an agreeable house I rented from a nice Ramager. I lived a short distance from the action, travelling between my house and wherever in a Moto Guzzi trike I had managed to buy from an American returning home. Three wheels suited me fine as I had seen too many hurt, and indeed killed, on two wheels in this region. Cars I disliked for short distances so a nice open air machine was great – except of course in the rainy season but at least it was always warm.




    I lived in Zapatta, a town at the northern end of Ramage’s middle island called Ramage Major. The Brits had developed it as a naval port as it was a sheltered bay additionally protected by the northern island Ramage Minor. This was close by with high central mountains which protected the anchorage from the east, the direction most of the typhoons came from. Zapatta was a beach resort of sorts but its history as a base was why a number of retired ex-pats had made their home here. There was a lively bar area that attracted not only those who lived in Zapatta but visitors from the neighbouring countries as well as holiday makers and R & R takers, in particular oil industry workers.




    Ramage Major was the commercial hub of Ramage and the main town was Xonga, a large port in the south of the island. Xonga should be the capital and would have been if the Brits, who wrested the island from Spain in 1810, had not taken the decision to avoid the heat and the disease of the waterfront and locate themselves in a new town. After constructing a causeway from Zapatta to Ramage Minor they had built Stamford which was located at 2,000 feet in the mountains. It was a quiet genteel colonial town whose only claim to fame was that it was the seat of government.




    The third and southernmost of the three main islands was called Minimus and almost inevitably had the largest population mainly I suspect because it was largely Catholic, a consequence of being colonised by Spain. Its 6 million population were rice farmers and fisherman and on the whole exceedingly poor. Their plight was not helped by a Muslim minority that had become dominant on the southern peninsular and now sought some form of independence. As a result a group of rebels exploded bombs and fought from the jungle thus giving the world the impression that Ramage was not so safe, and that Minimus was most definitely a place to avoid.




    Zapatta had suffered when the Royal Navy pulled out but they left behind a useful port and an airfield now used by cheap airlines. However as the main commercial port was Xonga, Zapatta struggled along helped by some inward investment and few tourists brought in by the likes of Air Asia and Tiger Air.




    The main trouble for Ramage was that it was no different to many countries in Asia in that corruption was rife. The current president, who ran the government with an iron rod, was a millionaire businessman who many had hoped would have had enough to keep his fingers out of the till. They could not have been more wrong – he wanted more and he treated the press and any opposition with disdain. The difficulty for those opposing him was that he dominated the poor people of Minimus by giving minimal hand outs, and promising much more. But for every Ramage Wonga the poor got, the businessman and his cronies got four. However the poor did not know this and took their pathetic hand outs and thought he was a hero – voting him in whatever happened. Of course living in a tropical paradise I watched these developments with a heavy heart but, as they say, it was none of my business. More importantly there was little I could do except feel sorry for the people of Ramage. That was until I met Kelly.




    It was a typical night out in town. Early doors I had dropped into the Red Fox, a bar run by Cumbrian Alan. It was a popular early evening hangout with a group of regular expat customers. The conversation was usually lively, which is about the best you could say about the place. The loos were a disgrace and the party inevitably ended early when the cold beer ran out; for some reason beyond the understanding of his customers Allan refused to stock enough. Suggestion that a few extra beers might mean more business fell on very stony ground. It suited me fine because that was all the encouragement I needed to leave and go for dinner, as usual to one of Zapatta’s Italian restaurants. I have never yet been anywhere in the world where there are foreign restaurants where I have not found an Eyetie. Maybe it is the acceptability of pizza and pasta; maybe it is just that Italians have a passion for their food. Zapatta’s Italians were barely haute cuisine but the standard was acceptable and the wine cheap.




    After that I dropped into a couple of open air bars and fought off the advances of the eager girls, all keen to get me to buy them a drink and maybe more. At sixty five I cannot really see why the girls loved me so much – except maybe for my money! I had been around SE Asia long enough to understand the girls. Most had babies and the father had either run off, or got on the wrong motor bike after drinking several shots of the local rice whiskey. Either way the effect was the same: a child and no money. If they came from Minimus, and many did, the local wage was 2,000 Wonga (£40) per month, just enough to provide rice and live in a hut. It was not enough to pay for school, clothes or any creature comforts but the real kicker was there were not even enough 2,000 Wonga jobs to go round. The option was to go and find a job in a factory in Xonga but that was no real panacea as the likely salary was maybe 4,000 Wonga per month and most of that had to be sent home to somebody, usually the girl’s mother, to look after the child. In addition those jobs involved living in very basic dormitories and there was no chance of saving and if somebody fell ill, well, there was no money for medical help. Put bluntly the best career option, for the average girl with little or no education, was to marry a foreigner and the best place to catch a foreigner was in a bar and if you did not catch one you at least might earn enough for a few luxuries in life. Of course that meant you were in effect working as a prostitute.




    After a couple of beers in outside bars I went to my usual late night spot, Angels. The proprietor was Lord Toad; he was not actually a lord but he was an impoverished Baronet. As most people did not know the difference between a baron and a baronet everybody thought he was a lord not a knight. Either way it did not matter as he was an honouree Lord, be it of a fictitious nature. Sir Rupert, that was his real name, had enjoyed an undistinguished career in England. In his youth the handle helped him achieve directorships he was totally unqualified for and as time went by the inherited fortune had been whittled away on expansive meals and slow racehorses. The final denouement had been when the wife divorced him and demanded to know where all the money was. Of course there was none left but she refused to believe him and made allegations which the tabloids could not resist repeating. After a few washings of his extremely grubby laundry in effusive print Lord Toad had taken the advice of Lord Moynihan. Indeed after a number of pink gins Toad would quote his mentor: “Of the fifty ways of getting out of the SH one t, running away is by far the most effective.” So, when her ladyship was not looking, Toad had sold the aging Rolls, the pair of Purdey’s and the last leg of an extremely slow steeplechaser and fled to the Ramage Isles. With those funds he had bought Angels and announced to all who would listen, that he was drinking himself into an early grave. The trouble was his liver seemed impervious to the vast quantities of alcohol thrown at it and he had survived, much to Zapatta residents’ disbelief for over ten years. Toad and Angels were synonymous with everything Ramage wanted not to stand for. The sign over the door announced Sir Rupert was the licensed purveyor of sex, drugs and rock and roll – of course the drugs were alcoholic beverages.




    I wandered into the bar and grabbed a seat at the bar. It was not that busy but it was early in the week. About 20 girls were dancing on the stage – dressed in the go-go uniform of a bikini. Another 20 odd girls hovered round the edges of the bar some sitting, some talking in groups. I was pleased to see Toad was occupied; he was talking animatedly to a couple of guys I did not know. In one hand was the ubiquitous glass of pale pink liquid and in the other a cigar. So when he saw me, instead of bouncing over, he raised the glass in salute and waved the cigar. I sat and ordered a Grouse whisky although I did not need to; it was already half poured by the time I was seated. I looked half heartedly at the dancing girls and recognised about half of them – Jennifer waved at me and indicated she wanted a drink, I smiled back.




    A voice behind me said, “How you Philip,” I looked round and saw Monkey. Well that was not her real name but what everybody called her, for fairly obvious reasons. In Asia PC was not an issue.




    “Hi Monkey,” I acknowledged. I was fond of Monkey in a platonic sort of way. She had stayed in my house a few times and I knew her story. She was 27 and had two children aged 5 and 7. She sat on the bar stool next to me and looked hopeful.




    “Philip!” an arm snaked round me. I reached round and found and squeezed a bottom. She cuddled up closer.




    “Behave Piggy,” I said giving the bottom another squeeze. She gave me a peck on the cheek and looked hopeful also. Again the reason for her nick name was equally obvious.




    I suppose I was a soft touch – I normally bought a few lady drinks as the girls’ drinks were called: 100 wonga each with 30 wonga going to the girl. Based on my physician’s prognosis I had more than enough money to live out the rest of my life in comfort therefore they needed it more than me. I looked at the barman and nodded at the two girls.




    I got another kiss from Piggy and Monkey came and offered a kiss on the lips. There was a little dilatory conversation; at least most people spoke some English and these girls tried to make conversation although I was not that interested, once the conversation had gone past name, number of children and age it all got difficult. Of course one of the first questions I was usually asked was about my wife, or girl friend; saying I had neither was going to make me more interesting. But in this case we all knew about each other and talking about stories from BBC World would only produce a yes answer, or a blank look. Both needless to say meant the same.




    The music volume was loud by conventional standards but by no means deafening. Conversation was possible at a normal level providing people were close together. The music genre was generally sixties and seventies although the odd more recent piece by the likes of Lady Gaga crept in. Toad was allergic to what he called rap, and the music industry had defined as hip hop. If the disc jockey was feeling brave he would make the dancers very happy and play such a record and hope Toad was too drunk to notice, otherwise a half smoked cigar could well be incoming, or an urgent message on the lines of ‘don’t play that ------ crap,’ would be delivered. On occasions the gin glass had been thrown; it was suspected that Toad had simply got his hands mixed up but nobody was that certain.




    I was watching the dancing girls and had spotted a new girl, well unknown to me anyway. What caught my eye was she was dancing on the raised plinth at the front of the bar, and she seemed to be having fun. In particular she was dancing as opposed to most of the other dancers who were doing the two step shuffle. My eyes were clearly following her so Monkey quickly noticed.




    “You like new girl?” She asked.




    “I have no idea,” I replied defensively, “But at least she is dancing and enjoying herself.” I replied knowing I was being a little unfair with my implied criticism of the other girls. Many were like Monkey and had worked for months in a Zapatta go-go bar. That usually meant nine hours a day and usually 6 days a week. Even if only half that time was spent on stage it was long time each day and many complained of aching legs. That was why having a drink bought was doubly good – it got the dancer off dancing duties whilst she entertained the buyer as well as a commission. Then an ‘off’ meant no more dancing for that night as well as 500 Wonga out of the 1,000 Wonga paid by the customer for an early work release as a bar fine was conveniently described. What the girls did once they were so released was entirely up to them and the customer – they were after all two adults. If they consented, so what? But everybody knew that if they did not a very pissed off customer would be back the next day. The EWR could well be revoked, and the girl would be looking for another bar to dance at.




    At that moment the next dancing shift started climbing onto the stage; the current shift prepared to leave but only after all the next shift were on stage. As the girls streamed off the stage some walked past the bar heading for the loos, among them was the new girl. Monkey grabbed her arm and spoke to her in Xong the local language. She turned and looked at me.




    She had a square face with a slightly turned up nose and dark brown hair trimmed to neck length in style that came straight out of a James Dean movie. This a total contrast to most of the other girls who had long black hair, and that distinctive Asian look with a flattened nose. However the Ramage Islands had been fought over and subjugated by a number of races over the years and there was plenty of evidence of that among the various girls working in the bars. There were obvious European looking girls as well as Japanese, Chinese and even the odd black African American.




    The new girl smiled at me; a good smile, it looked like she meant it. “What is your name?” I asked.




    “Kelly,” she smiled again.




    Before I could say anything Toad bounced into my evening. “Ah a new filly,” he announced giving Kelly a once over, “What’s your name darling?” Then before she could reply he shouted, “Mummy.”




    Angles had three mamasans who were charged with looking after the girls; they employed the girls, disciplined them and generally acted as a kind of troop sergeant. All girls were assigned to a mamasan thus a forty year old woman of substantial proportions rushed to Toad’s side bearing a file. Toad took the file and looked at it, but I was reasonably sure that in the bar’s reduced lighting he could not read it.




    The mamasan realised that as well, “Kelly, Rupert. She started today; she is 28. Nice girl. From Minimus.”




    “Good,” was the reply as the file was handed back, then his attention was back on me, “Evening Philip, I am running a trifle light,” he announced rattling the ice in his empty glass, and holding it up to make certain I could see it was empty.




    “Okay Toad!” I looked at the barman who got the message and immediately started on another pink gin – with the angostura out. I knew Toad and I could not object to him sponging drinks; in truth he always bought more than he scrounged. However I was aware that many new comers had left in high dudgeon after the big man had twisted their arm to get a drink.




    “So Philip, are you going to take this new filly out for a gallop? Looks like she could go a bit. A miler I think, or do you think she would make a mile and a half.” Toad gently weaved as he peered down at the luckless sub five foot Kelly from over six foot. Before I could answer he added, “Maybe she would be better over the sticks.” He then guffawed loudly at his own joke.




    I tried to catch the barman’s eye again to get Kelly a drink; I was a little irritated at Toad, although I should have been used to it by now, “Toad give the poor girl a chance.”




    “Oh dear Phillip …,” but he never finished what the oh dear was about as two regulars entered the bar and Toad caterpillared off to greet them with an expansive wave of the gin glass that already looked as though it needed refilling.




    With Toad in retreat the barman got back to me and Kelly got her drink. I already had half the answer to the inevitable questions, in fact there was only one left.




    “How many baby you have,” I asked almost inevitably dropping into local speak.




    “No baby,” She smiled back. However I was sure I had seen the tell tale crinkle of the stomach and ran my hand over her belly. Then knowing I now knew something, “Have miscarriage – long time ago,” she added ruefully.




    Monkey got in on the act again, “You pay bar for Kelly.” The lady in question gave me a marginal hug.




    “Monkey,” I protested.




    Monkey was not giving up, “It is Kelly’s first night. Good luck for her if you pay bar.” She then said something to Kelly in Xong. Piggy added something else and suddenly they were all chatting and Kelly was looking at me. I did not need to speak the language to know I was being talked about. She then switched to English but still talking to Kelly, “Philip has big house. Nice house you clean tomorrow morning after boom boom.”




    “Monkey will you be quiet,” I said trying not to sound angry. It was difficult to understand the girls simply because their education was so basic – they were little more than children in some ways. Kelly seemed to be taking it all in her stride; I was the one who was being thrown off balance. The solution seemed simple: go home alone.




    But a little worm took over and I turned to Kelly and said, “You want me to pay bar.” The answer was a kiss and the three girls all started doing high fives. This caught Toad’s eye and he thundered over, “Ah. Remember don’t push too hard till you get to the last furlong!” Another guffaw, before he waved at the barman, “Give Philip a large Grouse will you.”




    Kelly looked at me, “I change clothes,” she disappeared upstairs to where the girls lived.




    Monkey gave me a mournful look, “When you bar fine me Philip? I need money!”




    So I bought her and Piggy another drink. As I paid the bill I slipped Monkey a 100 Wonga.




    I learnt more about Kelly once I got home. She was most definitely different from the others.




    I asked a few questions and got defensive answers; she seemed to speak quite good English which was unusual in itself as she had no formal tuition. I use the word formal because in some ways she had a very full education. So this was her life story:




    Kelly had been born in Minimus to a Muslim father and a Catholic mother. The problems began when she got to about 10 and her father wanted her to be a Muslim and Kelly wanted to follow her mother’s faith. Eventually her father started beating her when she did not accept the rules of Islam so she had run away at the age of 12, and made her way to Xonga where she had joined the street children. Anybody who lived in Asia had seen street children: skinny kids in tattered clothes that beg, wash car windows and generally survive in the streets on their wits. At 15 she was pregnant and still on the streets and with no medical care she miscarried and nearly died. She was lucky somebody took her to a hospital and then the nuns looked after her until a family adopted her. The family sounded like very good people and it was not until she was 18 that she took a job as a house maid. She left the first job after the man of the house virtually raped her and she moved on doing various jobs. Almost inevitably she gravitated to Mafeking Street in Xonga. This was a street of go-go bars. She had worked there from time to time from the age of twenty, and it was there she had recently met two other girls, Jenny and Jocelyn. They had decided to go to Zapatta and work in a bar there: thus they had found a job at Angels. In a country where family was all important, she had not spoken to or seen her family since she ran away. She had leant English partly from working on the streets and partly from the bar scene.




    I suppose it was too much not to ask the obvious question, “Why you work in a bar?”




    “I can only work as house maid and sometimes that is very hard. Money is not good, maybe 2000 one month. When I house maid I want to get away, and then when I work bar do not like going with men unless I like,” She gave me a knowing look, “So I take salary for dancing for a while and then if I have no bar fine I have to leave. So I go back to maid until I try bar again. Maybe I find foreigner to marry me.” I understood the comment about no bar fines and had to leave because most bars insisted that there dancers had a certain number of EWRs and drinks each month; ideally they wanted girls to earn at least their base salary back that way. Ironically Toad was quite relaxed on that score.




    Kelly had cast quite a spell on me; I had been around Asia far too long to have any illusion about relationships between the races. I had many friends who were happily married to an Asian girl, both in Thailand and Ramage, but generally it was a very shallow relationship – the girls would say I look after you and they did but there was no real communication because even if one spoke the others language the cultural difference was vast. I felt I wanted to help Kelly since unlike the likes of Monkey she had no home to go to eventually.




    She stayed with me for two days that first time and proved to be a competent housekeeper as well as – well that is not for me to talk about!




    A few days later I met her two friends Jenny and Jocelyn. Jenny was a funky girl with a couple of tattoos who was keen to get bar fined and, if not, she would go to the local disco and dance the night away. In addition Jenny had a daughter back in Minimus being looked after by her mother. The father of the child had disappeared shortly before she was born. Jocelyn was the total contrast a shy introverted girl who was stunningly pretty and I could not work out why she was working in a bar; she had even got as far as one year in what Ramage calls a university before she realised she did not have enough money to graduate. She had rejected all attempts to bar fine her and lived happily off her daily salary of 100 Wonga plus accommodation. Kelly brought them round one afternoon, Jenny emptied the vodka bottle and insisted on watching the V channel, Jocelyn grabbed my computer and surfed the net whilst Kelly did the cleaning. I sat outside and read a book as Kelly supplied me with beer.




    A few weeks later the incident happened that was the real start to this story. I knew nothing about it until I wandered into Angels and instead of a party found a wake.


  




  

    2 - The Cause




    The first indication that something was wrong was that Toad was sitting at the bar. The pink gin was there but the other hand was devoid of a cigar, and he did not have the usual jolly ‘I don’t give a damn’ face on. He looked subdued and even appeared sober.




    “Crying shame,” he muttered, “I once had a steeplechaser hit the last jump; in the lead I might add. Bloody jockey’s fault, gave it a wake up too early; anyway broke a fetlock; nothing for it, except send it to the kennels. Damn good horse as well; rode it to hounds myself a few times. I was gutted then as I am now!” He looked at my confused look, “Looks like you don’t know! Give the man a drink!” he shouted to the barman.




    I did not know but I had a sinking feeling inside. Before I could ask, Toad went on, “You know we had a real winner there. She has been averaging 5 bar fines a week and plenty of drinks. Finally a filly that looked like earning her way!”




    Before anything could be said Kelly appeared; her eyes were red and puffy and she wore no makeup. I presumed that somebody had told her I was in the bar. She ran up to me, threw her arms round my chest and burst into loud sobs. Jocelyn was just behind her and she had obviously been crying as well. Neither was in uniform. It was not difficult to add two and two and reach the right answer. I spoke to Toad, “What happened?”




    “Bloody Ramager boyo, son of some big wig politician knocks over the poor bloody girl. Then refuses to do anything and lets the poor bitch bleed out in the street. Bloody animals these people are. I have said it once and I will say it again. Why we ever gave them back this god forsaken country is beyond me.” Toad was going quite puce; his face was even redder than usual.




    It was not the moment to point out it was their country after all. “When did this happen?” I asked as nothing smarter came into my mind.




    “This afternoon,” a sob announced from Kelly, “This man he come down the road too fast, he swerve to avoid a big truck and hit Jenny. She was on the outside. She went up in the air and hit the road. It was awful. I heard her hit and she break leg and have big cut, also on her head. But she was okay. I spoke to her. But no hospital will send ambulance as we have no money. The man with the car told us to fuck off when we asked him. He would not take her as she was bleeding. He said he had a new car. He said we were in his way. We were on the road, but the pavement is blocked.”




    The pavements were always clogged up with stalls and signs, as I knew only too well, “Did the police come?”




    “Yes,” Jocelyn answered as Kelly had gone back to hanging on to me and sobbing, “But they only wanted to get the man away. After the accident he would have just gone but a crowd formed and he could not drive away. He called the police, I am sure, so they would get him away.”




    I believed that; I had seen it all too often in this region. The police pandered to the rulers, in other words the rich, and more than often extorted from the masses. “So what happened in the end?” I asked rather pathetically knowing the final answer.




    “We get minibus to take Jenny to the hospital. After the accident we talked to her but as we drove to the hospital she became weaker and when we got there she was unconscious and they said in the hospital she was dead. She lost too much blood.” With that Jocelyn broke down in sobs.




    I looked at Toad who shook his head and looked seriously upset. I drank my whisky; I needed it. Toad nodded at the barman and another arrived.




    Toad indicated with his eyes that he wanted to talk to me, so I disentangled myself from Kelly and moved beside Toad. “This bastard is a man called Romeo Larkspin. He is the son of Army Larkspin, our local member of parliament. I have heard of him before: a spoilt brat by all accounts. Always causing problems but daddy fixes it.”




    “Well this seems damn close to manslaughter, if not cold bloody murder,” I answered sharply.




    “Philip, remember where you are!” Toad gave me a hard look, “Let the locals play their games and keep your nose clean.”




    “Like you do,” I gave a half smile. Toad was always upsetting officialdom, but somehow they could not handle his pure bloody mindedness. They had ordered Angels closed for various breaches of an obscure code and he simply ignored them, although there was a rumour that he knew some influential Ramagers from his days as a steward of various racecourses.




    “Philip, I do not get involved in politics. This arsehole is a politician: they are dangerous, making, or should I say stealing, more money than we can ever dream of. So they are rich Asian politicians – do not get mixed up with them!”




    I smiled sweetly although at that moment I had no idea, or indeed intention of mixing with Ramage’s murky politicians. “What are you going to do, Toad – about a funeral I mean?”




    Toad looked almost appalled but did think for a moment. “I suppose I will have to pay for it. I paid for Mummy’s mother last year, and then there was a barman who ran his bike into a tree. The precedent is set – even if she has been here less than a month.” Toad looked quite happy considering he would have to spend money but he gave it away with his next comment, “Wake here afterwards. I will lay on some food!” which meant he thought he would have a bar full of spenders.




    I looked at the two sobbing girls, “What are you going to do with those two?” I asked, “They can’t work tonight.”




    “Actually Philip, I was hoping you would pop in. You can take them off my hands. Bad for morale as they are. Don’t want it spreading,” Toad was getting back to his more normal self.




    I gave Toad a hard look, “And?” I did not trust Toad not to suddenly saddle me with two EWRs.




    “Of course Philip, they have the night off. What do you think I am?” He almost looked upset.




    I went to the girls, “Grab your things! You can stay at my house tonight,” I said wondering why I had drawn the short straw. But at least I had a spare room; in Angels it was bunks in a big room that nearly forty girls slept in.




    The two girls fitted onto the back of the trike with no problems. I could go home two ways and usually came one way and then went back via the centre of old Zapatta past the flag pole and the noon day gun. It was known locally as Flagstaff and was a very busy street with a minibus terminal as well as motorbike taxis and an array of shops. As a result during the day and early evening this was a traffic bottle neck. It was only fifty yards or so from Angels. It was here that the fateful accident had happened although I was at that moment unaware of it.




    Just as I was passing the open space that contained the flag pole and the gun Kelly clutched my back and pointed at the road. Opposite where we were passing was a large area of damp and some sand. Kelly clutched at my back. “Please stop, Philip” She spoke urgently. So I braked and much to my surprise the two girls untangled themselves from the back of the bike. Holding hands they danced across the road now carrying only a trickle of traffic. They stood before the sand and I realised they were praying. I was anxious because there was still traffic speeding by and they were forcing cars and motorbikes to go round them.




    I climbed off my bike to do something; what, I was not sure. I looked across the road at the traffic heading towards the girls and something caught my eye. There were street lights and more illumination from lights on the flag pole and the cannon so I saw the ugly black smear in the road. For a moment I ignored the girls and stared at it. Then I crossed the road and stared at the marks, making myself another traffic hazard. There were two clear parallel skid marks; my eye suggested about half the length of a cricket pitch. That is a long way and when there was gap in then traffic I paced it at about 11 yards. I was staring thoughtfully at the road when the two girls rushed back to the bike. The flag pole was on a small summit and the road was quite steeply uphill at this point. Knowing how busy this area was during peak times the driver had to have been pushing his luck going any kind of speed. I walked back and climbed on the trike and the two girls jumped on behind me. “Thank you,” Kelly muttered and gave me a big hug. I headed home.




    The girls were now strangely subdued, maybe by the power of prayer. However I realised they needed something to take their mind of the events of the day so I switched the television onto a Ramage channel and retired to my study with a whisky. I checked my emails, and then did a search and found several websites offering a speed calculation in relation to skid marks. These suggested the car that struck the luckless Jenny was going about 30 miles an hour. I was amazed anybody could do that speed through Flagstaff during the day. It had to be a lunatic. I was not certain what the speed limit was. In Ramage they still drove on the left, but that was not unusual in this region as only the ex-French colonies of Viet Nam, Cambodia and Laos had used the other side. Burma had changed from left to right as a bloody minded response to shaking off the shackles of imperialism but as most of the cars came from next door Thailand the whole exercise seemed to be one of futility. However Ramage had changed from miles to kilometres and I had a feeling the speed limit through Flagstaff was thirty. I heard some laughter from the living room. That was good; the telly was doing its mindless job. So I looked at Zapatta.com the local web board that was popular with ex-pats. I glanced aimlessly at the thread about Angels mainly a string of posts cataloguing Toad’s eccentricities as well as complaints about perceived injustices. I had once tried to correct some factual errors and received several salvos of abuse, some not very polite. Internet web boards are not for the faint hearted as they are all too often dominated by the bigoted and the ignorant not to mention those on a mission to misinform. However I started a new thread and asked if anybody had seen the accident at Flagstaff that afternoon and if they had could they PM (private message) me. I am not sure why I did it but it was a move that was to set in motion the chain of events that is this story.




    I then went and sat with Kelly and Jocelyn. After a while conversation started and slowly but inevitable it revolved round to the accident. I was finally able to get the full picture of what had happened.




    The driver had been wildly blowing his horn as he drove through the crowded Flagstaff area. Disaster had struck when Jenny ahead of the other two in single file had met a determined person coming the other way. She had been rudely jostled further into the road at the same time as an over loaded lorry had pushed down the other side of the road. The speeding car, a black SUV I now found out, had nowhere to go and, at the speed he was driving, an accident was inevitable. One suspected an experienced driver, or maybe a decent one, would have hit the lorry. From the story I got the distinct impression the driver intended to just drive on. But Jenny had gone into the air and landed directly in front of him. He could barely drive over her and the lorry stopped him going round her. Then the lorry had stopped momentarily. A big crowd had quickly surrounded Jenny in the road.




    “Some of the crowd knew the driver. I heard one person say he was Romeo Larkspin. And I think at least one person spoke to him by name.” Jocelyn informed me.




    “And he really would do nothing?” I asked incredulously.




    “No,” Kelly almost shouted, “He wanted to just drive on. He saw me helping Jenny and said ‘Oh, she is okay. I can go.’ I said no she needs to go to hospital. You can take her. He said I am in a hurry and I don’t want blood in my car. He just sneered.”




    “I was using Jenny’s phone to get an ambulance and they asked who we were and if we had 5,000 Wonga as a deposit, or a credit card. So I asked him and he said fuck off, it was Jenny’s fault.”




    “Nice man,” I said cynically.




    The conversation went round in circles and I fed the girls a few drinks. I decided talking about it was bringing them to terms with it. About 2 am I called a halt and suggested we needed to sleep. I pointed them to my spare room and went for a shower. With a towel round my waist I went to collect a bottle of water to take to bed and Kelly appeared similarly dressed. She put her arms round my neck and kissed me, “Thank you Philip. You look up to me and Jocelyn. You good man.” She took my hand and walked into my bedroom.




    “Kelly. Go and sleep in the other room with Jocelyn,” I said slightly irritably.




    She then looked miserable again, “I stay with you. Just want to hold you.”




    I sighed an acceptance and climbed into bed; she ran round and slipped off her towel revealing her naked body and climbed in. I was about to turn the light off when Jocelyn came through the door in a towel. I turned off the light and Kelly cuddled up to me and Jocelyn cuddled up to Kelly. I lay there wondering how I was going to sleep when the first sob sounded followed by another. Finally the two girls lay in each other’s arms gently crying. Eventually there was silence and they slept.




    I could not. There was so much going on in my mind. A song kept coming back as I thought of my friends in the Home Counties, married for thirty years and living in politically correct splendour. “If they could see me now” kept going through the mind until I could remember which show it came from. I had seen it with my mother, and then I got it. ‘Sweet Charity’ with Shirley MacLaine. It was only the first two lines that were appropriate.




    





    If they could see me now




    That little gang of mine




    I’m eatin’ fancy chow and drinkin’ fancy wine




    I’d like those stumble bums




    To see for a fact




    The kind of top-drawer, first-rate chums I attract




    All I can say is “Wow-ee!”




    Look-a where I am




    Tonight I landed, POW!




    Right in a pot of jam




    What a setup, holy cow!




    They’d never believe it




    If my friends could see me now!


  




  

    3 - The Decision




    I woke the next morning to find the two girls still sleeping soundly, now back to back. I crept out of bed, and made myself a cup of tea before reading the newspapers on line. I had only being absorbing the disasters of the world for a few minutes when I was told I had a new email. I had a PM in Zapatta.com.




    The message was succinct, it said; Yeah I saw it all happen. Arsehole in SUV was driving like a lunatic. Poor girl was tossed into the air; bleeding all over the road and he refused to help. All he wanted to do was run away. The crowd stopped him but the police came and let him go. Do you know the girl? Hope she is OK.




    I have several pictures I took if you are interested. Not of the accident but of the douchebag trying to escape and the poor girl bleeding all over the road.




    The sender had left his email address so I promptly replied and asked if he had a CD he could put the photos on. He must have been online because the reply was almost instantaneous. I arranged to meet him in a bar at 4 pm.




    Kelly, wearing a towel, came into my study and gave me a kiss. She and Jocelyn then set about cleaning the house, sweeping and mopping the floors, as well as polishing the surfaces and then I heard the washing machine functioning. I stayed firmly where I was until I heard the television churning out its monotonous dirge of daytime mediocrity. That was the cue for me to shower and dress giving up on my usual morning jog.




    The girls seemed to have fully recovered from the dramas of yesterday. I was surprised although I should not have been. Ramage was a poor country and poor people died the whole time. Young men died on motorbikes, women died in child birth, children caught mysterious diseases and there was no money to treat them and older people became sick and died remarkable quickly. So death arrived often and usually suddenly and the family wailed and grieved for a day and then did the only thing they could or indeed had to: get on with life.




    The girls started work between 5 pm and 7 pm depending upon their shift so I dropped them back at Angels shortly before 4 pm and went to see the man with the photos.




    The photographer turned out to be a forty something year-old American oil worker who was on a 4 week R & R break. He was a reasonable enough bloke and he gave me the CD and we talked about the accident; when he found out the girl had died from loss of blood he was genuinely angry. He had watched the whole episode and knew the SUV driver could have saved her. She had been lying in the road for 40 minutes before the minibus had agreed to take her the mile, and it was no more, to the local hospital. Finally we moved on to more pleasant subjects and after a couple of hours we parted. I went home and looked at the pictures on my computer.




    There were about 20 photos and some of them were quite striking, in particular one of the driver animatedly pointing and apparently shouting at Jocelyn. In the background you could see Jenny lying in a pool of blood and Kelly kneeling beside her with a look of desperation on her face. It was a powerful photo. But now I had the pictures I was not sure what I could do with them. The skid mark was obvious and I had no doubt in Europe that could be used in evidence against the driver, but this was Ramage. I doubted the local press would have the balls to publish such a picture, as it was of a wealthy family member and the laws of defamation were, to say the least, unhelpful: in many ways they were downright prohibitive to freedom of speech. Anybody publishing these pictures would need a lawyer close at hand and probably bail money too as defamation was a criminal not a civil offence. Justification was not simply that what was said was true; that needed to be proved first and then it had to be proven to be in the public interest to circulate such information. It was inevitably used by politicians et al to suppress media freedom.




    The potential usage of the photos was suddenly revealed by none other than Toad. I wandered in later that evening and was greeted by Kelly, now back to her usual bright self. I bought her a drink and then Monkey came and scrounged one and the conversation was back to the usual banter. Toad thundered over and said, “Do you know that boy,” he almost shouted the word boy, “is running as our council member?”




    I was confused, “No Toad, what do you mean?”




    “Well the chap who has represented this district on the local council died a few months back. Not a bad man, pretty innocuous but what do you expect. Anyway I am told that Larkspin junior is running for the seat. As you know Daddy is the local Member of Parliament and rumour has it that he will stand down next time and will be elevated, if that is the word, to the senate. So idiot boy will take his seat, but Daddy thinks junior needs a little political experience and has put him up for the local council.”




    “Ah,” I replied knowledgeably, “When is the election?”




    “About four weeks I am told but it seems there will be no election as nobody is standing against him. Daddy’s name and all that and this pip squeak gets in on the nod. Bloody disgrace but Ramage politics is rubbish. What do you expect?” Toad suddenly saw somebody enter and trundled off to greet them. But I had had a thought.




    Next day I printed some of the photos and walked up the road to my landlord’s house. His name was Danny Nitroff; he was a little younger than me in his early sixties. He had lived in Zapatta all his life except for a period studying law in Cambridge, and had completed his legal qualifications in Xonga. He was a respected lawyer and well known locally. We got on well as I had gone to Oxford, although my course had been the more general one of PPE. From thence I had moved around in industry as a manager. I had also dabbled in UK politics and had served on few public committees. I had little doubt if my wife had not died when I was in my early fifties I would have moved onwards and upwards on those committees, probably ending up with an honour of some type. But instead I saw no point in working anymore and had retired to South East Asia, a decision I seldom regretted. I think both Danny and I appreciated each other as Zapatta was a wilderness when it came to intelligent conversation so we dined together once a month and talked world politics. The politics of Ramage we tended to exclude as it was a dangerous subject but I trusted Danny. I had called ahead.




    Danny greeted me enthusiastically, “Philip my friend, a pleasure always. A glass of something or that dratted tea you Brits always drink?”




    I smiled warmly, “Don’t be derogatory about us Brits. You are damn nearly one yourself,” I fired back. It was a standing joke as he had an English great grandfather as well as his university experience, “A tea would be great.”




    Danny pressed a bell and a woman appeared and she was sent to get two teas. Danny was a good looking man with typically jet black hair which was now going gray round the edges. Like me he was fit and although he did not run he admitted to using an exercise machine. Until the tea arrived we went through the usual chit chat, but once we each had our cuppa in front of us Danny leant back in his chair, “So Philip. What gives?”




    I started slowly, “I want your advice on a couple of matters. The local by-election for a councillor. What do you know?”




    Danny gave me a sideways look, “Philip, you are not getting into local politics are you? It is not a place for genteel Englishmen.” When I did not answer, he went on, “Well the local council member Billy died a few months ago. It seems like he has been there forever. To be honest he was pretty ineffective but he was reasonably honest – by Ramage standards that is. Larkspin’s son is going be elected in his place – not, if I may say so - a great plus for Zapatta district 8. Why?”




    So I told him about the accident and showed him the photos. Danny grimaced as I ended with the death of Jenny, “I am not surprised; nobody has a good word to say about the young Larkspin. The father is not all bad; corrupt of course, they all are, but at least he has some sense of decency. I know him quite well as we meet at functions; he has even been in this house when I threw a party for the good and great on my retirement. That was a few years ago, mind you! Retire? I do more now than I ever did and do not have an office to support me!” He looked at me curiously, “So Philip what are you thinking?”




    “When do nominations close for the by-election?” I asked.




    “You know you cannot run,” was his immediate response. I nodded. “So who are you going to put up? Nominations close in two days I think,” he added finally answering my question.




    “Requirements?” I asked




    Danny shook his head, “I am not sure I should answer that.” He then did, “I will check it but I think you need 500 Wonga to enter plus 20 voters to sponsor you. Of course there is the usual form to fill in but the only restrictions are you must be a citizen of Ramage and not be disqualified, which mainly means not convicted of a criminal offence in the last five years. If in jail you are still deemed to be convicted so it means you have also not to have been in jail for any part of the last five years.” He fixed me with an unflinching gaze, “Do you want me to check that for you?” I nodded. He reached for the phone and dialled, “I will do that but I want a full explanation afterwards.” Before he could say more he was talking in Xong. He reached for a note pad and wrote on it, clearly making notes. There were several thank you’s, at the time the limit of my Xong, and the phone was replaced.




    “Ok Philip. Nominations close at noon on the day after tomorrow. The fee is now 700 Wonga plus 20 citizens of district 8 must sponsor the candidate. The candidate will have to supply valid ID, a Ramage ID card will do, and they will be checked out for criminal convictions. Now what are you up to?”




    Put like that I could barely ignore the question. We talked about it for an hour during which time Danny agreed some points, although he kept telling me not to get involved. As I left he said, “Philip, I will support you on this one because I think young Larkspin is useless and frankly has no interest in district 8. If the old man asks me I will tell him that he is wrong to stick his son on us. He knows nothing about district 8 and cares even less. But do not go beyond this. Politicians in Ramage are dangerous beasts; you start messing up their domain and they will stop at nothing to get rid of you. Getting you chucked out of the country would be a nice option, but having you thrown in jail or killed are just as likely. And, as I am sure you know, Ramage’s jails are not for the likes of you.”




    I jogged home and used my mobile to call Jocelyn who had kept Jenny’s phone. At my insistence more airtime had been bought and the battery recharged it. I asked the two girls to come to my house immediately: there was some reluctance but in the end they agreed.




    They arrived on a motorbike taxi half an hour later. I sat them down and told them what I wanted them to do. They both looked shocked. For the poor of Ramage politics was impenetrable: it was left to the wealthy and village elders. The idea of a young uneducated woman entering politics was anathema. Their immediate reaction was ‘we cannot do it.’




    So I was forced into a little coercion. “Kelly, the other night when you were crying about Jenny you said you would do anything to get back at Romeo Larkspin. This is your opportunity!”




    Kelly looked unhappy, “Why me? Why not Jocelyn?” she said neatly deflecting my attack.




    “Kelly you are a natural showman, or should I say show-woman. You show off when you are dancing, you talk and know what you want. You suffer fools lightly - you have been through hell; you know what you can do. Jocelyn has education and thinks logically. You two are a great team. You front it and Jocelyn backs you up. Also you are older; Jocelyn looks too much of a young girl.” I had to be careful where I went from here. Kelly’s strange life had taken its toll. I knew she was 28 but she could easily pass as 35, or even a young 40, whereas Jocelyn was 22 and looked that age.




    The two girls annoyed me then by breaking into Xong.




    Finally Jocelyn spoke, “Philip, what you ask is big for us. What about our jobs?”




    Fair point I had to concede, “I will talk to Toad. He will give you time off for the campaign and if you win you have new jobs.”




    “Councillors get paid?” Jocelyn asked.




    “Not sure,” I said reluctantly, “But you can earn money. We will hold fund raisers etc.”




    “But what will we live on and what about the cost of the election? We have no money!” Jocelyn was at least thinking on the right lines.




    “I will fund you through the election and cover the costs. When you win I will see you are okay.” I replied wondering quite what I was getting into apart from subverting politics in Zapatta - I was not sure HMG would approve.




    “Where can we live?” Jocelyn asked another good question. Kelly could barely list her address as Angels.




    “You need to find a room immediately,” I answered, then added with resignation, “And yes I will pay.”




    We finally got to the nitty gritty of the concept and I despatched the two girls to the local town hall to get the form needed to enter the election. I then went in search of Toad.




    I found him in a bar I suspected he would be in.




    He greeted me in his own unique way, “Philip my boy: Slumming are you? Surprised you want to be seen with all these off terraces hooligans!” Toad roared with laughter as he insulted the fifteen or so customers. The crowd who mainly wore vests, tattoos and jeans, that clearly supported various English football teams, seemed to be amused by Toad’s comments.




    “Ere Sir Rupert,” one called out, “You’re slumming it too!”




    “Never dear boy,” Toad replied jauntily and then to me, “Just a pinkers please Philip.”




    A women behind the bar looked at me and I nodded, “And a Tiger for me please.” I added.




    “You drinking beer Philip? Thought you were a whisky man.” Toad boomed.




    “Bit early in the day, Toad. Can you spare me a minute?” I said moving away from the crowd.




    I had wanted to catch Toad before he got too drunk and forgot the conversation. “Can you give Kelly and Jocelyn a month’s leave of absence. Obviously without pay.” I asked quietly.




    “You’re taking them off for a threesome.” Toad looked speculatively at me.




    “Of course not. It is just they want to sort out this Jenny thing.”




    “Funeral day after tomorrow, you know that,” Toad announced, “We will have a whip round for her baby at the wake. See whether we can get enough money together to get her, or is it a he, through school.”




    “Yes. I had heard that. Very good of you. But the girls really want to make a difference.” I replied carefully picking my words.




    “Well I suppose if they want to go to Minimus and see the family that is fair enough.” Toad decided.




    “Thanks Toad. I will tell them they can have the time off.” I rapidly closed the conversation without saying what the girls would really be doing. I would deal with that when it happened.




    That evening I went to Angels after dinner. Kelly and Jocelyn were working but came straight to me. I bought them a drink each and we sat and chatted. They had the form, had filled it in and even found that Mummy was a voter in district 8, as were two of the girls who lived locally. They had all signed up. Mummy was a local woman and knew many people and said she would help get signatures. In addition she had a friend who had rooms so the girls would move there tomorrow. I told them they had leave of absence from Toad, but try not to tell him what they were up to. I handed a wedge of Wonga to Jocelyn. They would complete the signatures and get the candidate’s form completed tomorrow. They would move and then come to my house.




    The following morning I was concerned that there might be some issues with the candidature of Kelly. Maybe Larkspin knew somebody at the town hall and they would reject the application on a technicality. I rang Danny with this thought. He said he would make a few calls. He rang me back half an hour later amused, “No worries, Philip,” he assured me. “I spoke to the man who runs the elections. He is a very happy person. No contest meant no election. An election means a budget to run it, and as you and I know nothing gets spent by the council that does not involve a little gain to the person placing the order. So the assistant returning officer, as is his official title, wants an election. He will make certain your girl is accepted as a candidate, for sure.”




    Kelly and Jocelyn arrived around 4 pm, both now excited. They had met the assistant returning officer, and they had feared the same reaction I had. Even more so given the usual problem the poor had when dealing with officialdom. Instead, they informed me, he was charming and helpful. He had checked the form with them and had, unusually as I found out later, given immediate approval to Kelly’s submission. She was now officially a candidate. That alone would have made the girls believe in themselves. However they had already had a massive boost when getting the proposers’ signatures. There had been many words of encouragement. Young Larkspin was not thought highly of; quite the reverse as he had upset many local tradesmen with his arrogant and demeaning attitude. The more I heard about Romeo the more I concluded that Zapatta district 8 did not deserve him.




    I had spent a time in politics ending up as Chairman of my local Conservative association so I knew a little about running an election. I knew that being popular was not enough; in the end it was getting the vote out that mattered. That meant people needed to be canvassed and then those who said they would vote for your candidate had to be encouraged to vote: polling day was all about committee rooms, knockers and drivers. Of course involving the media was equally important when it came to getting the message out, and then exactly what the message was needed to be considered. Kelly was an independent so she needed to have a manifesto. Her single policy was to keep Romeo Larkspin out of office and that, from the early soundings we had, in itself promised to be a vote catching agenda. However she needed more, so we sat for a couple of hours and I explained about electioneering. They had already taken their leave of absence so I suggested they spend the rest of the day and evening finding out what the district 8 residents wanted from their council. The next day would be Jenny’s funeral and wake.




    I attended the church service at 3 pm and witnessed a cascade of grief as all the girls and mamasans individually and as groups burst into tears at certain poignant moments. Stoicism was not the strong point of the Ramage character although barely an hour into the wake, one would have been forgiven into thinking it was a celebration. Once they had left the church and had a drink in hand the girls simply forgot about Jenny and got on with life. Life in their case meant extracting as much money as possible from the crowded bar full of ex-pats. That involved getting themselves bought drinks or a trip to another place. The party became distinctly rowdy as the bell was rung several times, signalling drinks all round. Soon those small Ramage bodies fed with several local whiskeys and coke failed to mop up the alcohol fast enough; there were numerous very drunk girls about and inevitably one removed her bra and then another and then not to be outdone the lower garment was removed. And before one could say ‘wake’ there were multiple squeals as several birthday suits danced on the stage. At that point the mamasans got involved. It was their head that was on the line if the place got busted: nudity was strictly verboten. I was watching the mummies trying to get their charges dressed in the approved manner and thus failed to see Toad charging towards me with a scowl on. I saw him at the last moment and managed to get the first words in.




    “Good turnout Toad. The jack seems to be ringing regularly,” using the cockney vernacular for till that Toad often used.




    “Philip I am not amused. You told me those girls were going to Minimus. Now I find they are getting involved in local politics. I do not approve,” he thundered.




    “Toad, I said nothing of the sort.” I realised Toad was about to become belligerent and bad tempered which meant logic was not going to be a strong point. I had seen this before but his ire had never been directed at me. So I tried to side step it: “This is not the place to talk about this.” I had intended to go on but I was stopped mid sentence.




    “Of course it is the bloody place to talk. You are stirring the pot with the locals. Alright for you but I have a business to run.”




    With reason not a choice, I knew I had two options, retreat or attack. Since getting out of the packed bar was not going to be easy, I chose the latter. “Toad,” I said loudly, “One of your staff has been killed by a lunatic. If fixing him is unacceptable then you are a disgrace. It is one thing to play the game with the regulations but appeasing a murderer is not acceptable. I thought you were a gentleman?”




    I knew that would get to him as, for all his belittling of his title and background, he still thought of himself as a gentleman. In his mind he was a superior being: a baronet and member of the aristocracy. The only form he filled in without complaint was the annual Burke’s peerage update. Toad actually spluttered, “Philip that is most unfair.”




    Fortunately a couple of locals took that moment to grab Toad and tell him what a great party it was. I slithered off and hid in the crowd.




    I did not stay long but I managed to speak to Jocelyn. Kelly was suddenly a popular girl as the story of her candidature was now well out in the public domain that was Angels. Kelly was revelling in it. So I warned Jocelyn that Toad was on the warpath and they should avoid him at all costs. Leaving in the near future seemed a good idea. I then took my own advice and left. It was of course very early, barely six in the evening, so I trundled into another go-go bar that had just opened. Since I had left a party as high at the one at Angels to go to a nearly empty bar I might just as well have jumped into a pool of iced water. I had a bland beer and exchanged a few pointless words with a couple of hopeful girls before I realised I needed to go home. Back in my quarters I managed to heat some baked beans, create some toast and reflect. Comfort food, as mundane food seems to be called these days, is sometimes as good as anything a holder of Michelin’s much sought after stars can produce. I stared aimlessly at the goggle box before crashing out for an early night.


  




  

    4 - The First Campaign.




    I woke up bright eyed and bushy tailed: an early night and no whisky had done me no harm; on top of that I suddenly had a real purpose in life. I had an election to win. I went for a morning run around the estate. I lived, as did many others, on a private gated estate mainly as an exercise in security. The estate had guards at the single gate who monitored who came; they also patrolled the area that was walled in with razor wire atop the walls. After a shower and muesli for breakfast I sat in front of my computer and started planning the campaign. The girls arrived around midday and by late afternoon I thought we had a plan that looked workable. We had discussed policies and the issues Kelly needed to raise as well as proposed solutions. In addition we drafted a press release which we would look at again before being sent out. In truth there was not much interest in a local by-election so the media had scarcely noticed there was even going to be one. In essence the plan was simple. Sit, plan and prepare until 14 days before the election. Then there would be an intensive campaign. During the planning stage Kelly and Jocelyn would recruit some election workers.




    One decision we had made early was that Kelly would be simply Kelly; her surname would never be used. It was to the point and short: our brand name was Kelly.




    I spent the next day putting Kelly through a ‘meet the press’ session: I was the press. Not only did we have to get her to answer political questions correctly but we also needed to be ready to face up to her past. I had thought about it the night before and had begun to doubt my wisdom of starting this scheme. There was no way we could get round the fact that Kelly was, or at best had been, a bar girl. And everybody knew what a bar girl was.




    First we covered how to deal with Romeo Larkspin and the accident. They could not simply say he was a murderer; they had to skate round that. Put carefully they could say he was answerable for the death of Jenny. He had been driving too fast in a busy area and then had failed to assist the victim. Even if he could defend driving too fast he could not defend his refusal to help the person he had run over. But Kelly had to stress that, whilst that had been the catalyst, because she did not believe the man who had let her friend bleed to death was a man who would look after the voters of Zapatta district 8, this was not her sole reason. She had identified several issues that the voters of district 8 were concerned about for which the council had responsibility. She wanted to get elected because she wanted better things for district 8.




    As to the issue of Kelly’s background and job I had to teach her the great political art of answering the question she wanted to answer, not the question asked. So she had to turn a negative into a positive and when asked if she worked in a bar – with the implication she was a prostitute – she had to answer the question why somebody who worked in a bar was the right person. So the answer would be, “District 8 has many bars which bring a great deal of revenue into Zapatta. In the past there has been much criticism of the bars. But nobody has thought about what would happen to Zapatta if they were not there. Do you know that the bars employ over 5000 people, they bring in tourists and many foreigners live here because of the bars? If the bars were closed down and moved away it would have a dramatic effect on Zapatta. Millions of dollars would be lost from Zapatta’s exchequer, hundreds of jobs would be lost in shops and businesses servicing both the bars and the foreigners, many houses and lodgings would be empty bringing down the price of all property in Zapatta. I understand the bars and how they work. I can work to see the bars address the concerns of the residents, whilst at the same time ensuring the bars stay put and keep supporting Zapatta.”




    We discussed the art of dealing with questions and not saying the wrong word that could be twisted. I quoted an example when I had once said ‘things were a little chaotic’ meaning we were very busy and under pressure. The subsequent press article quoted me as saying everything was in ‘chaos.’




    I played a hardball journalist and Kelly answered my questions. We then moved to my computer and I conducted an interview using the webcam. After four hours I could see the girls were getting tired, particularly Kelly. I should not have been surprised given that she had spent so little time in school, even less time in a real school, so we had some lunch and I sent them home.




    It was Saturday and that was Hash day. The Hash is an institution amongst ex-pats world wide. It is variously described as ‘a drinking club with a running problem,’ and vice versa, but what I saw it as was a healthy run followed by several beers and an opportunity to catch up with a variety of ex-pats from several countries. I was not keen on the high jinks that all too often dominated proceedings in the ‘On-On’, as the beer session after the run was called, and I had managed to make it clear I did not enjoy participating in multiple down downs (a can of beer in one) or sitting on a block of ice. I had been coerced into being the hash cash of Zapatta Hash House Harriers, or Zapatta H3 for short. I got the job because I had the time and they trusted me; the rest of the committee were more interested in beer, women and partying but I was thought to be a ‘bit of a stick in the mud’ who could be relied upon to keep the books straight. I had a more verbose deputy who did the collections on run days and paid out the expenses; I checked the figures and held the cash. Several of the more serious people gravitated to a small group that I normally drank and chatted with. I had several questions about Kelly as the story had now well and truly broken among the foreign community. I even had a few offers of help but I thought my involvement was dubious enough without inflaming the situation with more ‘klunkers’ as expats were referred to in Xong.




    I let the girls have Sunday off with the promise that from Monday it would be hard work everyday until the election. I risked a few drinks in Angels on Saturday night. I had been avoiding the place to avoid an argument with Toad, but he was his usual flippant self and there was no mention of politics. I had a quiet Sunday and was ready for a hard week. My view was that after the next week I would be leaving it to the girls, but this week I had to make certain they knew what they should be doing.




    On Monday we agreed the final draft of the press release. It was to the point and short:




    Kelly is the independent candidate in the Zapatta district 8 by-election. The other candidate is Romeo Larkspin who was recently involved in an accident in which Kelly’s friend, Jenny, died. Evidence suggests that Larkspin was driving at an unsafe speed; in addition he refused to provide assistance to the injured person. If such assistance had been provided it seems unlikely Jenny would have died. Kelly believes that this incident clearly demonstrates that Romeo Larkspin is an unsuitable candidate.




    Kelly has identified several areas where she can help the electorate of district 8. The principal issues are:




    

      	
1. The maintenance of the roads is unacceptable. Pot holes should be repaired regularly and they are not.





      	
2. The pavement area near Flagstaff is badly maintained and often cluttered with stalls blocking the shops of those paying for their premises as well as forcing pedestrians onto the road. It is the job of the council to allocate adequate space for the stalls, or to remove them. Kelly believes they could be located on the road leaving the pavement clear.





      	
3. It is unclear why the Zapatta electric company cannot maintain a regular supply. There are too many brown outs and no explanations.





      	
4. The council used to provide wardens who kept undesirables away from the bar area. That has now stopped although the bars are still paying for the service. There are now more beggars, pick pockets and hustlers than ever. Why has this been allowed?





      	
5. The council no longer maintains a daily garbage service for commercial premises. The result is unsavoury rubbish left in the street, often for more than 2 days.



    




    Kelly says, “It is my intention to represent the best interests of the voters of district 8. The list above is indicative of a council that is not doing its job and does not care. I will be asking questions and demanding answers when I am elected. To that end, upon my election, I will open an office in District 8 so that residents will have instant access to me and my staff.




    I intend to make a difference.”




    Once we had finalised the press release I got the girls to deliver it to the five press sources in Zapatta. They were a local radio station, a local weekly paper, a city office of one of the country’s TV news channels, an advertising magazine mainly aimed at ex-pats and the local office of the Times of Ramage, the main national newspaper. In addition they posted a copy to all the main country wide media sources mostly based in Xonga. I suggested they try and see a reporter when they delivered the letters; it would be good to have some contacts. That worked well when they met a young female reporter from the Zapatta Gazette, the local paper. The two girls struck up an instant rapport with Jane, the reporter, who was fascinated with the story of why Kelly was running. In addition to being young and idealistic she was less than enamoured with Ramage’s politicians including Larkspin junior and senior. A photo session was organised for later in the week. The article, when it appeared the following week, was very short in both length and substance but featured a big picture of Kelly standing in front of the Flagstaff. The reporter rang Kelly in high dudgeon; she had submitted a long article but the owner of the paper was not prepared to do anything that might upset the Larkspins. As a result most of the article was edited out. But it did have another consequence: the paper’s editor had decided, in the interests of being even handed, that Romeo should be interviewed also for the following week’s paper which would come out just before the election. The same young reporter was told to get hold of Romeo Larkspin and arrange an interview.




    We spent the rest of the phoney election period, as I had named it, preparing for the next two weeks. We had posters and hand bills printed; in addition we produced hundreds of copies of the picture of the accident scene that had caught my eye. I sent the girls shopping so that they had a couple of dresses to wear rather than the usual uniform of jeans and tee shirt. I also rehearsed Kelly in public speaking. We developed a five minute speech that could be extended if required. By the weekend my work was virtually done. On the Monday morning, just under two weeks away from the Sunday polling day, the real campaign started. The first move was to have a hundred posters of Kelly placed around the district. Jocelyn as the election agent had found several willing helpers so there was a canvassing plan; every house in district 8 would be visited. In addition every lunch time and early evening, when the area around the shops at Flagstaff was busy, Kelly would canvass shoppers, then on the following Saturday and Sunday she would stand outside the nearby shopping mall doing the same. All canvassers carried the picture and soon it became apparent that this was highly effective; people were genuinely shocked.




    It was on the Tuesday that local paper came out and Jane called Kelly. The real sting to the story was that she had not been able to get hold of Larkspin junior because he was out of town. He did not even realise the election was contested, and Jane’s call had sent the Larkspin political organisation into a spin. The Larkspins lived on the other side of town in an exclusive suburb and had not seen the posters. Jane had been told testily that Romeo would call her the next day.




    The following evening Jane met Romeo Larkspin and rang Jocelyn soon after. She reported that Larkspin had assumed the election was uncontested and had gone to Xonga. Jane suspected that he deemed Zapatta back woods. A letter had been sent to him saying the election was contested but he had not been at home to open it. Reading between the lines Jane thought his father was less than happy with him. As to district 8 and Zapatta he seemed to have no real message other than state his father had represented Zapatta for twenty years and seemed to imply it was his right to carry on. He had no policy initiatives and appeared to know even less. Jane was appalled and announced bravely that it was to expose people like Romeo Larkspin that she had become a journalist. I received the report the following morning from Jocelyn and suspected that Jane was about to learn the harsh realities of local newspapers: boat rocking was definitely not allowed.




    The canvassing returns, such as they were, suggested Larkspin would not get many votes. The girls took comfort from the fact that a good percentage of the people had said they would probably vote for Kelly. That suggested, and here I referred to my experience in the UK, that most people were totally disinterested as they thought however they voted would make no difference. The conclusion was that not many intended to vote. District 8 was a large area but it only had 2000 voters as most of the 10,000 plus adults were either ineligible, as foreigners, or itinerant workers in the bars who were not registered to vote. The last council vote, for district 8, had been at the same time as a general election: 438 people had voted. This was a by-election and I could see a turnout of ten to fifteen percent was the likely best we could hope for. That worried me as Larkspin would have quite a few placemen who he could call on. Kelly’s best hope was that there were enough people who disliked Larkspin junior sufficiently that they would actually go and vote against him.




    The Monday before the election Jocelyn rang to say the local radio station wanted to interview Kelly, and that the weekend canvassing at the mall had been highly successful. If nothing else it reflected the girls were working hard and with great enthusiasm. I just feared they were going to get a terrible let down. Monday shortly after midday, just as I was finishing a sandwich for lunch, my phone beeped. I had a message from Kelly’s new phone. It said simply: code 11.




    In the early stages, knowing what I knew and suspected about Ramage politics, I had thought of likely actions by Larkspin. I had spoken to Danny about it and he said I had every reason to be cautious. Code 22 was a physical attack, code 33 was an angry mob, code 44 was injury and code 55 was in hospital. Code 11 meant they had been arrested.




    I had persuaded a reluctant Danny to be on stand by if he was needed. Whilst he despised Larkspin junior and thought he was totally the wrong person to be his council representative, Danny was also a pragmatist and, in Ramage’s corrupt business community, crossing the likes of Larkspin was not a great career move. I suspected Danny was only doing it because he would lose face to me if he did not. Face in Asia is everything and whilst I did not really matter, he liked having me as a friend. Of course the other point was, and maybe the more important, Danny was retired and upsetting the local business community was not as serious as when he had still been the partner of a local practice. So I called Danny and told him the girls needed springing from the local police station.




    The reaction surprised me. I knew Danny did not like the local police commander, an Inspector Ram by name. He had a rotten reputation for shake-downs and was totally in the pocket of local politicians. His reply was simple, “Right Philip. I shall go and do battle with Ram the man. I can’t think of anybody I would rather piss off today or for that matter any day. Leave it to me.” He seemed to be relishing the job.




    Danny drove up and parked out side police station 8 about 20 minutes after my call. He walked into the modern single storey building with a scruffy reception area and a uninterested looking uniformed policeman sitting at a reception desk; around the area there were four women and an old man, all looking decidedly bored if not slightly anxious.




    Danny marched confidently to the desk, “Inspector Ram please,” he said in Xong, and then turned his back on the desk and stared around the room.




    He had intimidated the receptionist as intended; any Ramager with that confidence in a police station had to be important. The man wanted to ask Danny who he was, but was frightened of upsetting him, so he picked up a phone and dialled the inspector’s office. Danny heard one side of the conversation and heard the receptionist say, “There is somebody to see you, Inspector.” There was a pause and the man looked at Danny embarrassed and clearly unsure what to say.




    Danny reached across and took the phone, “Inspector Ram, it is Attorney Nitroff. I need to see you urgently.” Danny heard a spluttered okay and turned towards the inspector’s office which was directly behind the reception area. Danny was the president of the local lawyers association, and had been for a number of years. Thus he had known Ram would have to see him.




    He strolled confidently into the domain of the head of station 8 as the inspector was getting up to show him in. Danny nodded at the inspector and walked to a seat and sat down.




    The inspector was very much on the back foot, “Attorney Nitroff, nice to see you.” He shuffled back and sat behind his desk. “How may I help you?”




    Danny looked across the desk at the uniformed man who he knew loved intimidating people, “Inspector I believe you have arrested Kelly, a candidate for the council election. Why?”




    “Oh,” Ram looked surprised, “Oh well maybe, I will have to check.” Danny gave him his best ‘don’t mess with me’ look. The policeman got the message, “Yes I think we have. They have been arrested for defamation! That is very serious you know.” He was trying hard to justify himself.




    “How and whom has she defamed,” Danny shot back.




    “Romeo Larkspin, they have been showing a picture of him that is bad for his reputation.”




    Danny opened a briefcase he was carrying and pulled out a picture, “Do you mean this picture?”




    “Yes. It is fabricated and shows Mr Larkspin in a very bad light.”




    “Inspector I know and I suspect you know that this picture is genuine,” Danny watched as the policeman squirmed in his seat, “I have seen the sequence of pictures that build up to this one and the ones that follow. There is no doubt in my mind, and I am sure in any reasonable person’s mind that this picture is accurate and unaltered.”


    “Well maybe but it is not right to show this picture around. It shows Mr Larkspin in a bad light. It is clearly defaming his reputation.




    Danny leant back and laughed, “Ha! The reputation of Romeo Larkspin is hard to damage anymore than he has already done for himself.” He then glared at the Inspector, “But Romeo is running for the council so you cannot he surely suggesting it is not in the public interest to know this?” In Ramage the pernicious defamation laws suggested that proving the fact was not enough, that information had also to be in the public interest.




    The inspector was now almost moving continually he was squirming so much, “Well Attorney Nitroff, I am sure as you are aware if we receive a complaint we must act on it.”




    “Yes you should investigate it. And ascertain if the complaint is correct.” Danny paused, “Then you should have asked the accused for their side and they should have had the right to have an attorney present. Did you do that?”




    “Well we have only just bought them to the station. We have not had a chance to interrogate them.”




    “The word I fear inspector is question. I presume they are in an interrogation room. Which one? Shall we go and talk to them?” Danny was sure they were in the cells.




    “We did not have a room available when they came in!”




    “So you asked them to wait in the reception area, I would think. Funny I did not see them there!” Danny glared at the officer.




    The policeman tried pleading, “Attorney Nitroff, I received a call from our member of parliament and he asked me to arrest the girl as she was defaming his son. I am sure you understand.”




    “No I do not,” Danny snapped back. “The law is the law, despite what you may think. And the law clearly states that in a defamation case you must have a written complaint and the accused must be able to answer that complaint. Also you have no cause to arrest somebody unless you believe a crime has been committed. Clearly here there is no crime. The pictures are genuine and the man is running for public office so information about him is in the public interest!”




    The inspector saw a loophole and leapt for it, “It is not our job to establish guilt but to leave it to a court.”




    “Only if you are reasonably sure the allegations are correct and a conviction can be obtained. I do not believe on this evidence you have a dog’s chance in hell of conviction.” Danny said that knowing it to be untrue, what he had said was the law but a few Wonga to the right judge and the charge could well stand.




    “Well, that is up to a court to decide,” the inspector was sticking to his guns.




    “Of course,” Danny went on, “There is also the issue that you do not have a written complaint. Also you should immediately release the ladies on bail. On their recognizance I would think would be reasonable.”




    “There is a chance they will repeat the defamation,” The inspector was getting more confident.




    “It is not defamation,” Danny replied. He knew he could get them out on a technicality but feared they would be re-arrested in a day and would then be hidden. He knew how the police worked only too well.




    “Inspector you have to set bail. It is totally unreasonable to keep them in custody pending a trial.”




    “I am not so sure. They do not come from Zapatta. They can easily disappear.”




    “Kelly is standing for council. She is not going to run away,” Danny was getting irritated, “But you are obliged to set bail. This is a non violent civil offence. It is a first offence; you have to set bail.”




    “I am not so sure. I have not checked to see if she has any other convictions.”




    “Inspector that is rubbish. As a candidate in the election the returning officer had to check for criminal convictions,” Danny looked at the smug policeman and decided to go for broke. “If you will not set bail immediately I will have my representative in Stanford before a judge within the hour and apply for habeas corpus. I am 100% sure I will get a release order.” Danny knew it might take a day but suspected he would get it with little problem. The downside for the inspector was such an order would go to the head of the police of Ramage and would then percolate down the system until it got to station 8. That would involve everybody in the police chain of command above the inspector; by the time the order hit Zapatta he would be one very unpopular policeman.




    Ram went back to squirming, “Attorney Nitroff, I am just following the instruction of Army Larkspin. He will be very unhappy if I go against his wishes. I will have to tell him why!”




    In other words thought Danny ‘you are going to drop me deeply in it with Larkspin.’ In some ways he should never have promised Philip but he had and he was damned if he was going to let the poisonous police inspector get away with it. “Fine you tell him. Now what is the bail?” It would be better to get them out on bail then they could not be rearrested.




    The inspector suddenly looked hopeful; he saw a quick profit,”50,000 Wonga.” Danny was outraged at the figure but Philip had given him the money so he reached for his briefcase. The inspector saw the move and added, “Each.”




    It was a totally unreasonable sum, Danny knew that, but he smiled sweetly, “Right Inspector; I need a receipt and an official bail document.” With that he handed over a pile of Wonga.




    Ram did not like that. He hesitated before saying, “The person who does that is not here. Can you pick it up later in the week?”




    That Danny knew meant the money would mysteriously disappear into the bowels of the police force never to be seen again. “Inspector, I hope you are not suggesting that I leave you this money without a receipt. That would suggest you are asking me to bribe you and I am duty bound as an officer of the high court of Ramage to report that.”




    Ram knew he had made a mistake, “No certainly not. I would never do that. I will just have to do the receipt myself if the person is not there.” He hurriedly dialled a number and asked for the documents. They waited.




    There was a silence until Danny pulled out the picture of the accident again. “Inspector I would like to draw your attention to certain points on this picture. You see these skid marks: well according to an analysis by a specialist firm in the UK the vehicle, of young Larkspin, was travelling at nearly 50 Kilometres per hour. On that basis he was at one and two thirds of the speed limit. In that area, in those traffic conditions that is at best careless, certainly without due care, probably dangerous and bearing in mind somebody died, most likely manslaughter. Would you not agree?”




    “Well ‘er we do not use that as evidence. “ He replied defensively.




    “Well I see no reason why it should not be used. Do you?”




    “It does not matter because the speed limit is fifty,” the policeman announced confidently.




    “No it is not. There are clear 30 signs on either side of the Flagstaff area.”




    “Those signs are very old, they date back to the British and they mean miles an hour.”




    The lawyer was intrigued by the answer, for it was desperate at best, “I do not care what it meant when it was erected. All signs now are in kilometres and as that sign has been maintained it must now mean there is a 30 kilometre limit through the Flagstaff area.”




    The policeman was not giving up, “There is no 30 kilometre limit anywhere in Ramage. It must be miles.”




    “I disagree, inspector. The age of the sign is irrelevant. Just because a sign is 50 years old does not make it not a sign. Plenty of other signs are 30 40 years old. In fact the halt sign at the top of Calcutta Street, where your officers regularly fine motorists, is very old and not even in the current highway code. But your officers still get their Wonga.” Danny smiled easily knowing he had the inspector. The junction he was referring to was a well know spot for the local police to top up monthly wages. The usual trick was to suggest a fine of 200 Wonga which then had to be paid at the central police station. In the meantime the police kept the driver’s licence. Of course the police would then offer to pay the fine for the driver for 300 Wonga. If the driver agreed, he handed over the money, did not have his licence taken and got no receipt.




    “Well it is only recently that sign was taken out of the Highway Code,” Ram squirmed again.




    “About three years ago I think inspector. But I am sure I saw your men there last week!” Danny gave a half smile, “I will tell you what inspector. If the defamation charges are not removed and it goes to court then we will prove that young Larkspin was doing 50 kilometres per hour in a 30 limit. We will then insist that manslaughter charges are bought, as well as dangerous driving etcetera etcetera.”




    Another policeman entered the room at that moment and handed some papers to the inspector. Ram gave them a perfunctory glance and then handed them to Danny who studied them in more detail. Both policemen waited for his verdict.




    “Okay,” Danny nodded and put the papers in his briefcase. “Will you bring the women to reception and I will take them with me.” The second officer left.




    “Army Larkspin is not going to like this, attorney Nitroff,” the inspector said with grim satisfaction.




    “I do not like it either inspector.” Danny answered firmly back, “I know what is going on and I disapprove 100%. Frankly inspector you are a disgrace; this is not an even-handed application of the law but you doing a politician’s bidding. I will promise you two things: one, if those defamation charges are pressed, you will not only lose but Larkspin junior will end up in court. And two, if I ever again find you breaking the law to appease a politician I will be making a formal complaint to Xonga.” The police headquarters was in Xonga. Danny stood up and ignoring the policeman walked to the door and out into the reception area. He knew he had probably gone too far but hoped his threat to report the inspector would keep him at bay. He was angry: Ramage was his country and this was typical of how the police and politicians behaved. He hated it and somewhere he knew he had not done enough about it over the years. He had appeased the system and as a result it left him alone.




    Danny did not wait long before the two girls appeared and he hurried to his car and drove them to my house.




    I had been quietly fretting away the hour it took Danny to spring the girls. My mind was full of problems and set backs and I was much relieved when the door opened and the three came in.




    Danny did not stay long; to me he seemed thoughtful and quickly made his excuses and left. The full story of the meeting with Ram emerged over a number of conversations so I am reasonably sure of the details; he was very upset about the whole incident.




    Of the girls Kelly had taken being arrested in her stride; on the other hand for Jocelyn, with little exposure to the real world, the inside of a police cell was something she had never expected to see. Kelly rushed around and made tea and chatted away as if nothing had happened, whist gently joshing Jocelyn in Xong. I was wondering where we went from here.




    Kelly after making tea immediately launched into what they would do next; it was time for them to go and do their evening meet and greet at Flagstaff and she was wondering how the two canvassers they had out were doing. Jocelyn said nothing until I gently brought her into the conversation.




    “Kelly I think we need to just think for a minute,” I saw she was about to protest so I quickly added, “No that does not mean giving up, it means facing up to reality. I am sure Jocelyn can do without another trip to the police station.” I looked at Jocelyn calling for a comment.




    She gave a wry smile, “Yes Philip,” she then looked at Kelly, “It is alright, I am not giving up. But I would rather not go to jail again.”




    “That wasn’t jail. We were only there for an hour,” Kelly shot back, “and we got out easily. Last time I was picked up, for doing nothing mind you, the bloody inspector saw me walking out of Lancelot. That is in Mafeking Street and decided he fancied me. I was arrested and searched; they found nothing but we all know the National police and if you are a bar girl…” Kelly gave Jocelyn a knowing look, “Anyway as I said he fancied me so it was quite an easy fix, but the bastard put me in the cells for three hours before he went off duty, just to make certain I was compliant. So it was three hours in a dirty short time hotel and I went home and he went back to his wife. I managed to persuade the mamasan that I had a family emergency and got most of my money that night and did not go back.”




    I was shocked but not really surprised by the story; it was the kind of thing one heard of and never knew whether to believe it or not. Jocelyn looked even more upset. “Kelly,” I said sternly, “I thought you were trying to perk Jocelyn up.” I give Jocelyn a tortured smile. “No worries Jocelyn. Danny has got the local plod under control,” using a little English vernacular to lighten the mood. “Think about it Jocelyn! This is your opportunity to knock the establishment. You have done well so far and it is only a few days to polling day. What you have to do is win.”




    “Sorry Philip, I know you are right. It is just … well you know. Not long ago I was in college and thought I was going somewhere. Then I am working in a bar feeling awful and then I am in jail. I just wondered how bad it could get.”




    I decided she needed snapping out of it, “You could have been in Jenny’s place.” I said it quietly but the impact was a scowl and for a moment I thought she was either going to cry or run away. Kelly reached over and took her hand. For a moment there was silence: so I added, “Remember why you are doing this! It is to avenge Jenny.” Jocelyn suddenly jumped up and headed for the bathroom. I looked at Kelly.




    “Sorry Philip. She is a good girl but very naive. You are right: we are doing this for Jenny.”




    I was beginning to become even more fascinated by Kelly; she had grown in stature in the last three weeks. The confident girl who danced on the front of the stage was becoming confident in her new role. There was no doubt in my mind that Kelly wanted the job and believed she could do it.




    The girls returned to canvassing but we agreed they would no longer show the accident picture as a matter of course. If they were asked for it they would show it, but it seemed that most people had heard the story and were anti Romeo. However the real job remained: getting people to vote. So we had an idea.
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